# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### ALFRED JAMES THIERRY, JR.

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Stanley Rumbaugh, Trial Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

###

1.	Procedural Facts
	2.	Testimony at trial 4
D.	<u>ARGI</u>	<u>UMENT</u>
	1.	THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED REPEATED ACTS OF HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT ALL OF WHICH COMPELS REVERSAL
		a. Relevant facts
		b. All of these arguments were serious, prejudical misconduct which compels reversal 24
	2.	SEVERAL TERMS OF COMMUNITY CUSTODY WERE NOT STATUTORILY AUTHORIZED OR VIOLATE APPELLANT'S RIGHTS
E.	CON	<u>CLUSION</u> 50

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 156 P.3d 201 (2007) 40
State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008) 34, 41, 44, 46-49
State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 755 P.2d 174 (1988)
State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996) 31, 34
<u>State v. Gentry</u> , 125 Wn.2d 570, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995), <u>cert. denied</u> , 516 U.S. 843 (1995)
<u>State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), overruled in part and on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006)</u>
State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 147 P.3d 2011 (2006)
<u>State v. Guloy</u> , 104 Wn.2d 412, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), <u>cert. denied sub nom Washington v. Guloy</u> , 475 U.S. 1020 (1986)
State v. Hanna, 123 Wn.2d 704, 871 P.2d 135 (1994), reversed on other grounds on petition for writ of habeus corpus sub nom Hanna v. Riveland, 87 F.3d 1034 (9th Circ. 1996)
<u>State v. Lindsay,</u> Wn.2d, P.3d (2014 WL 1848454) (May 8, 2014)
State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) 19, 25
<u>State v. Nichols</u> , 161 Wn.2d 1, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007)
<u>State v. Riles</u> , 135 Wn.2d 326, 957 P.2d 655 (1998), <u>abrogated in part and on other grounds</u> <u>by</u> , <u>State v. Valencia</u> , 165 Wn.2d 782, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010)
State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993)
State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 683 P.2d 571 (1984)
State v. Sanchez-Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010) 40
State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)

<u>State v. Warren</u> , 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 556 U.S 1192 (2009)
COURT OF APPEALS
<u>State v. Bautista-Caldera, 56 Wn. App. 186, 783 P.2d 116 (1989), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1001 (1990).</u> 40
State v. Curtis, 110 Wn. App. 6, 37 P.3d 1274 (2002)
State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996)
State v. Gonzales, 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2002) 3
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010), <u>review denied</u> , 171 Wn.2d 1013 (2011)
State v. Jones, 118 Wn. App. 199, 76 P.3d 258 (2003)
State v. Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 183 P. 3d 307 (2008)
<u>State v. Jones</u> , 71 Wn. App. 798, 863 P.2d 85 (1993), <u>review denied</u> , 124 Wn.2d 1018 (1994)
<u>State v. Kolsenik</u> , 146 Wn. App. 790, 192 P.3d 937 (2008), <u>review denied</u> , 165 Wn.2d 1050 (2009
State v. Madison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 770 P.2d 662 (1989)
State v. O'Cain, 144 Wn. App. 772, 184 P.3d 1262 (2008) 19, 25
<u>State v. Powell</u> , 62 Wn. App. 914, 816 P.2d 86, <u>review denied</u> , 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992)
State v. Rivers, 96 Wn. App. 672, 981 P.2d 16 (1999) 43, 44
State v. Romero, 113 Wn. App. 779, 54 P.3d 1255 (2002) 39, 46-48
State v. Sansone, 127 Wn. App. 630, 111 P.3d 1251 (2005) 33
<u>State v. Suarez-Bravo</u> , 72 Wn. App. 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994) 40
Wright v. Miller, 93 Wn. App. 189, 963 P.2d 934 (1998) 25

### FEDERAL AND OTHER STATE CASELAW

Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314 (1935), overruled in part and on other grounds by Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 80 S. Ct. 270, 4 L. Ed. 2d 252 (1960)
Doe v. Prosecutor, Marion County, 705 F.3d 694 (7th Cir. 2013) 35
<u>Griffin v. California</u> , 380 U.S. 609, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965)
<u>Illinois v. Allen</u> , 397 U.S. 337, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970)
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970) 31
Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 110 S. Ct. 3157, 111 L. Ed. 2d 666 (1990)
Reno v. ACLU, 521 U.S. 844, 117 S. Ct. 2329, 138 L. Ed 2d 874 (1997)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
<u>United States v. Jackson</u> , 390 U.S. 570, 88 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
14 <sup>th</sup> Amend
Art. 1, § 3
Art. I, § 22
First Amendment
Laws of 2009, ch. 214, § 3
RCW 10.99.020
RCW 69.41.030(1)
RCW 9.94A.030(10)

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b)			
RCW 9.94A.535(5)(n)			
RCW 9.94A.703			
RCW 9.94A.704			
RCW 9A.44.073			
RCW 9A.44.083			
Sixth Amendment			
OTHER AUTHORITIES			
Christopher R. Murray, "Grappling with 'Solicitation": The Need for Statutory Reform in North Carolina after Lawrence v. Texas," 14 Duke J. Gender L. & Policy 681 (2007)			
Takiyah Rayshawn McClain, "An Ounce of Prevention: Improving the Preventative Measures of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act, 40 Vand. J. Transn'l L. 597 (2007)			

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The prosecutor committed multiple acts of serious, prejudicial misconduct which compel reversal, including inciting the jury's passions and prejudice against appellant Alfred Thierry, Jr., arguing negative inferences from Thierry, Jr.'s exercise of his rights to trial, confrontation, cross-examination and counsel and misstating facts and argument while denigrating counsel and her role.
- 2. Appellant was deprived of his due process rights to a fair trial by the serious, prejudicial misconduct, which compels reversal under the applicable standards, even for the misconduct to which no objection was raised below. In the alternative, to the extent any of the misconduct to which counsel failed to object could have been cured by instruction, counsel was prejudicially ineffective in violation of appellant's 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment and Article 1, § 22, rights for those failures.
- 3. Even if the individual acts of misconduct did not compel reversal, their cumulative effect would.
- 4. The sentencing court erred and abused its discretion in ordering conditions of community supervision which were not statutorily authorized, several of which were also in violation of Thierry, Jr.'s, due process and First Amendment rights:
  - 13. You shall not possess or consume any controlled substances without a valid prescription from a licensed physician.

. . .

16. Do not initiate or have intentional physical contact with children under the age of 18 for any reason. Do not have any contact with physically or mentally vulnerable individuals.

. . .

25. You shall not have access to the Internet at any location nor shall you have access to computers unless otherwise approved by the treatment provider and community corrections officer. You also are prohibited from joining or perusing any public social websites (Face[]book, MySpace, etc.)

. . .

27. Do not possess or peruse any sexually explicit materials in any medium. Your

sexual deviancy treatment provider will define sexually explicit material. Do not patronize prostitutes or establishments that promote the commercialization of sex.

#### CP 221-22.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The only evidence at trial was the accusations of the alleged victim, J.T., presented through his testimony and the testimony of others he told.
  - a. In closing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly invoked the theme that "the word of a child is enough," then accused counsel of saying that children could not be believed and defense counsel in general of saying that when children "tell." The prosecutor then said that, if the argument he claimed the defense was making "has any merit," the prosecution "may as well just give up prosecuting these cases, and the law might as well say that, 'The word of a child is not enough."

Is there a substantial likelihood this misconduct had an effect on the jury's verdict where counsel's objection was overruled and the only issue was credibility?

- b. Did the prosecutor comment on appellant's rights to trial, confrontation and the assistance of counsel when the prosecutor repeatedly reminded the jury how the child had to testify not only in front of strangers but also in front of his dad, his alleged abuser, commented on how she "had to ask" the child questions, described counsel's cross-examination as "forcing" the child to say certain things, denigrated counsel for her cross-examination (over defense objection), and told the jury counsel "wants" them to disregard the evidence and that counsel's "explanation" for the accusations was "outrageous?"
- c. Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, ill-intentioned misconduct in stating there was "no evidence" of a crucial fact upon which counsel relied and faulted counsel for misstating the fact, even though the prosecutor herself had elicited some of that evidence?
- d. If any of the misconduct which was not objected to below could have been cured by instruction, was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to object and request

such a remedy?

- e. Does the cumulative effect of the misconduct compel reversal where all of the misconduct affected the jury's ability to fairly and impartially decide the case?
- 3. Did the sentencing court err in ordering a condition prohibiting appellant from consuming controlled substances without a valid prescription from a physician where the relevant statute does not so limit the practitioners?
- 4. Were conditions prohibiting Internet and computer access and joining or "perusing" any public social websites not authorized as "crime-related" prohibitions where there was no evidence that the internet, computers or social websites were involved in the crime? Further, was the condition in violation of appellant's First Amendment rights?
- 5. Was a condition prohibiting contact with "physically or mentally vulnerable individuals" not "crime-related" where there was no evidence that any such adults were involved and the child was not unusually physically or mentally vulnerable except as normal for a child his age in his situation? Further, was the condition unconstitutionally vague and in violation of appellant's First Amendment rights to freedom of association?
- 6. Was a condition prohibiting possession or perusing "sexually explicit materials in any medium" also improper because it prohibits possession of constitutionally protected adult pornography protected by the First Amendment and fails to sufficiently define what it prohibited, in violation of due process?
- 7. Was a condition prohibiting appellant from going to places which "promote the commercialization of sex" unconstitutionally vague and in violation of due process because it fails to define or give notice of what places are covered under that definition?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Alfred J. Thierry, Jr., was charged by second amended information with four counts of first-degree rape of a child and two counts

of first-degree child molestation, all of which were alleged to have the aggravating factors of being domestic violence incidents, involving an abuse of trust and with a particularly vulnerable victim. CP 111-14; RCW 9A.44.083; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b); RCW 9.94A.535(5)(n); RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 10.99.020.

After a number of pretrial hearings before the Honorable Judge Linda C.J. Lee on November 9, 2012, February 1, March 1 and 29, April 12, June 7 and 28, 2013, trial was held before the Honorable Judge Stanley Rumbaugh on July 22-25, 29-31, August 1, 5 and 6, 2013, after which the jury found Thierry, Jr., guilty as charged. CP 157-80.

Thierry, Jr., appealed, and this pleading follows. See CP 210.

#### 2. Testimony at trial

In October of 2012, Majaahidah Sayfullah heard her adopted son, J.T., reading aloud and thought he said something about "humping" and "kissing." 12RP 49, 136. This disturbed Sayfullah, so she asked where the book he was reading said anything like that. 12RP 136. When he showed her a picture he thought showed humping, Sayfullah told the boy that he was wrong and the picture did not look like that. 12RP 136.

She decided, however, to ask the boy if anyone had ever touched him inappropriately or did anything to him or his private parts. 12RP 137. He seemed like he did not want to say anything so she reassured him he was not in trouble. 12RP 137. According to Sayfullah, J.T. said he did not want to tell because he would never see his father again. 12RP 137.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>References to the verbatim report of proceedings is contained in Appendix A.

It "took a little while" but eventually J.T. told Sayfullah that J.T.'s father "put his penis in his butt." 12RP 137.

At trial, Sayfullah admitted that she had specifically explained to the child what each private part was actually called and he then disclosed the abuse to her, using those names. 12RP 149. J.T. did not say how many times it had happened and Sayfullah said she did not ask any more questions. 12RP 137.

The next day, Sayfullah took J.T. to the doctor. 12RP 128. J.T. had been very constipated for a while so they started by talking about that with the doctor, Dr. Tracy Lin, who also did a checkup. 12RP 128.

Sayfullah admitted that the issues with constipation, pooping and wiping had been happening since J.T. was as young as 3. 12RP 129. Not only did he have a hard time going poop, he would also constantly have stains in his underwear, even after she tried to show him how to properly wipe. 12RP 129. He had to take medicine to make sure he had a regular bowel movement. 12RP 132.

At the time of trial, J.T. was still having the same constipation problems and having to take that medicine, although he was better at wiping. 12RP 132. J.T. said he had been constipated a lot and his doctor said there was a lot of waste in his stomach so J.T. had to drink a medicine and eat "healthier." 12RP 100. The boy admitted he had problems like that off and on his whole life, including with his stomach. 12RP 100. He testified at trial that his dad actually had to help him wipe his butt at times because he did not know how to do it himself. 12RP 100.

J.T.'s father, Alfred Thierry, Jr., confirmed that there were times

that he would wipe his son's bottom because J.T. did not get the feces off or would have stool in his pants. 14RP 91. From about age 4, when Thierry, Jr., started having his son for overnight visits, Thierry, Jr. would always have to wash out his son's pants and underwear to clean out the feces. 14RP 91. J.T. would pull on his backside like he was trying to pull the underwear out of the "crack of his pants," so Thierry, Jr., would take the boy the bathroom and ask if the child had wiped "good." 14RP 92. Although J.T. would say yes, Thierry, Jr., would check and see feces all the time so Thierry, Jr., would have to get a wet, warm rag to wipe J.T. and sometimes change his underwear. 14RP 92. Thierry, Jr., would show J.T. how to wipe carefully and J.T. would say he understood, but it did not seem to get better. 14RP 92.

When she saw J.T. in October right after the allegations were made, Dr. Lin would have trouble and ultimately would stop trying to do a physical exam of J.T.'s bottom because J.T. had so much "stool" around his anus and became uncomfortable with the exam. 13RP 117.

Lin had started doing the exam after Sayfullah had talked with her about the constipation, cleaning and bottom issues, because Sayfullah had then told the doctor about the allegations of inappropriate touching. 12RP 129, 13RP 112-14. According to Sayfullah, after she reported the allegations to the doctor, she then went outside while Lin talked to J.T. in privacy. 12RP 129. Dr, Lin, however, not only remembered that Sayfullah was present during the conversation but she also had documentation confirming it. 12RP 129, 13RP 113.

When Sayfullah raised the allegations, Dr. Lin, who had not seen

J.T. as a patient before, got concerned because constipation can sometimes show up in sex abuse cases. 13RP 116. Further, Sayfullah told Dr. Lin that J.T.'s bathroom and constipation issues had only been going on for about a year. 12RP 100, 129. At trial, both Sayfullah and J.T. would concede it was far longer, either his whole life or about five years. 12RP 100, 129; 13RP 116. But as a result of what she was told, the doctor then asked the child, "[h]as anyone touched your penis or bottom to make you scared or uncomfortable?" 13RP 114. J.T. said yes, his dad "in" his bottom and that the last time it happened was "[a]t his apartment two weeks ago." 13RP 114.

The last visit J.T. had actually had with his father before the disclosure of alleged abuse was in late August of 2012, more than a month earlier. 12RP 52.

Sayfullah explained that she was J.T.'s aunt on his mom's side and had adopted J.T. when he was three days old. 12RP 112-18. Thierry, Jr., was J.T.'s biological dad and had been at the hospital when he was born. 12RP 112-18. There was no formal court order for visitation but if Thierry, Jr., called and wanted to see his child, Sayfullah let him. 12RP 119. J.T. would also ask to have visits with Thierry, Jr., and she would arrange those, too. 12RP 120.

Sayfullah admitted that she would not make J.T. go visit if he did not want to, and J.T. testified that it was his decision whether to visit.

11RP 61-63, 12RP 122. For the most part, the visits were over the weekend and the longest J.T. stayed was "maybe one and a half to two weeks" one summer, although Sayfullah indicated it was supposed to be

longer and Thierry, Jr., and Robinson had cut it short due to problems with child care and work. 12RP 122-23.

In the summer of 2012, J.T. had been talking about wanting to live with his dad and Lorrie Robinson at Robinson's home. 12RP 82. At trial, J.T. remembered talking to his dad about it but claimed that he really "didn't care" when his dad had said no. 12RP 82-83. Sayfullah said that, for the most part, J.T. seemed to enjoy his visits with Thierry, Jr. and would talk about what they did. 12RP 122.

At the doctor's office with Dr Lin, however, J.T. said that, when he was 4, 6 and 8 years old, his dad had put his penis in his butt. 13RP 114. The day after Dr. Lin saw him, Keri Arnold-Harms, a child interviewer for the Pierce County prosecutor's office, interviewed J.T. after being briefed on the allegations by Sayfullah and investigators. 12RP 14-15, 23. The interviews are recorded and usually police and others watch, with Arnold-Harms checking in to make sure she has asked what investigators need asked. 12RP 28. The building is decorated in an "under the sea theme," with fantastical sea creatures hang from the ceiling and around the rooms which Arnold-Harms admitted frequently caught the attention of children who would focus on them and ask about them. 12RP 27.

Arnold-Harms has a bachelor's degree in sociology with a "minor" in psychology, trained for about six months and then attended some conferences and trainings relating to things like interviewing techniques and investigating child sexual abuse. 12RP 12-16. She discussed her use of a "truth and a lie" exercise having the child make up a story using a drawing of children outside the house and a hypothetical of one of the

children breaking the window. 12RP 32. Arnold-Harms would ask the child what it meant if an adult asked the child who threw the rock who threw it and that child lied. 12RP 32. The interviewer used this as a sort of "morality" question as well as a "truth and lie" issue, sort of looking at "[w]hat should happen to the child for lying," as opposed to a child who tells the truth. 12RP 32.

Arnold-Harms then testified that she would have a child "promise that they're going to tell the truth as we talk today." 12RP 33. She described "[c]oaching," saying that it occurs if there may be "an individual who is creating an abuse story that isn't true and having the child disclose that information in an interview[.]" 12RP 37. Although at one point she stated her job was "not to determine whether or not the child is telling about a true event or not," the investigator also thought that when a child gave lots of detail that was an indication something was not a "story." 12RP 60. Arnold-Harms admitted, however, that children can tell stories with a great deal of detail, even if the stories were not true. 12RP 60. She also conceded that a child who was simply seeking attention would consider being talked to by adults a reward. 12RP 63.

The video of the interview as played for the jury and in it, J.T. made accusations that his father had abused him, including an incident where he said his dad had made him touch his penis when J.T. was 8, at his grandma's home, while saying something about wanting to see how big it got and that he should "[p]et like you would pet a pet." Ex. 1. J.T. described how it felt once like his dad went pee in his butt. <u>Id</u>.

At trial, J.T. was 9 years old. 11RP 57. He could not say where he

lived and thought the city was named "Washington." 11RP 57. He also said he did not remember talking to the doctor about what happened and did not remember "that much" about the videotaped interview. 11RP 85-86. He remembered talking to "Amber," though, and said she helped him write a book. 11RP 86.

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