NO. 45379-7

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ALFRED JAMES THIERRY, JR., APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Stanley Rumbaugh

No. 12-1-03862-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
CHELSEY MILLER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

16RP 16-17 (emphasis added). During the trial, defense counsel objected to the italicized comment on the grounds the State was fueling the passion and prejudice of the jury. 16RP 17. The court overruled the objection and the prosecutor continued:

But, like I said on Thursday, those instructions which are the law as it stands right now tells you that you don't need anything else, that the word of a child, in fact, is sufficient, that it is enough, and you know what? No 8-year-old who turns 9 and then comes on the stand is going to have a consistent recount of everything that happened.

16RP 17-18. When the court reviews the prosecutor's comments in the context of both parties' arguments, it is evident that the prosecutor's statements were not improper as they were discussing J.T.'s credibility and were a counterargument to defense counsel's closing argument.

Defense counsel's theory of the case and closing argument questioned J.T.'s credibility and suggested that J.T. was making up the abuse as a cover story for when he was confronted by his mother about

using the words "humping" and "kissing." 16RP 6-7. Defense counsel argued that when Ms. Sayfullah questioned J.T. about the book, when he was examined by the pediatric nurse practitioners Ms. Lin and Ms. Breland, when he was interviewed by Ms. Arnold-Harms and when he was counseled by Ms. Bradford, the adults created suggestive environments which fueled J.T.'s imagination and contributed to this made up story of abuse by his father. 16RP 6-13. At one point, defense counsel argued to the jury, "[t]hat's not what happened, and that's not what [his mother] said happened, but [J.T.] has weaved this into the fabric of his story, and because he is a child, nobody is going to pick on him for it. We're going to congratulate him for being so forthcoming, for telling it all." 16RP 13. In essence, defendant's theory of the case was that J.T. was a child the jury should not believe because he had made up the story about the abuse to keep himself from getting into trouble.

It was in response to this theory of the case and defense counsel's argument that J.T. was not credible that the prosecutor made the comments defendant objected to and argues in his brief were improper. However, the prosecutor's statements were not improper emotional appeals to the passion and prejudice of the jury when looked at in the context of the entirety of both parties' closing arguments. The prosecutor's comments came in rebuttal and were directly in response to defense counsel's argument to remind the jury that the law does not require more than the word of a child as defense counsel was suggesting in her

argument. In fact, the prosecutor specifically references defense counsel's argument multiple times in the dialogue preceding the comment defense counsel objects to. *See* 16RP 16-17. Even after the objection, the prosecutor reiterated that the law in the instructions tells the jury what evidence to rely on and that if they find J.T. credible, that is enough. *See* 16RP 17-18.

The trial court also understood that the prosecutor's comments were made in response to defense counsel's argument when the objection was discussed after the jury had returned to their room to begin deliberations. Defense counsel clarified what she had been objecting to and the court stated that while he appreciated defense counsel's clarification, he did not believe the State went over the line and thought the case was extremely well argued. 16RP 31. He also reiterated that the jury is instructed that argument is argument and that the jury had been instructed that the attorney's statements are arguments. 16RP 31. Thus, defense counsel not only objected to the comment at the time it was made and was overruled, but even when it was brought to the court's attention at the conclusion of closings and after further reflection, the court still felt it was proper argument and declined to take any remedial action.

Defendant also cites numerous other instances of prosecutorial misconduct in his brief, quoting over 15 statements the prosecutor made during her closing and rebuttal which were not objected to by defense counsel. He argues they were all also improper as they appealed to the

passion and prejudice of the jury. Yet again, a review of the record shows these comments were further arguments by the prosecutor regarding J.T.'s credibility and explanations about the standards of evidence which the court instructs the jury on. Not only were they not improper, they did not rise to the standard of flagrant and ill-intentioned as required for reversal involving statements which were not objected to.

Many of the quoted statements specifically discussed how J.T. had no reason or motive to lie about the abuse and reminded the jury they were allowed to draw reasonable inferences based on the evidence that was presented to them, in this case, primarily J.T.'s testimony. *See e.g.* "No one testified for you that they watched any of these acts happen. That would be direct evidence of the acts themselves, but that is not required, and, if it were, the State could never prosecute any of these types of cases. You can and you must make those reasonable inferences that this instruction is telling you that you can make." 15RP 89-90; *See also* 15RP 89; 98-99; 16RP 25, 27-28. The prosecutor's comments were explaining direct versus circumstantial evidence and how the jury is allowed to draw reasonable inferences from that evidence. The fact that she explained that if the law required more, the State would never be able to prosecute many cases which rely only on witness' testimony was not an appeal to the passion or prejudice of the jury; it was an effort to explain to the jury what the instructions say the law is and how they are to apply it to the evidence

in the case. Like the comment that was objected to, none of the comments by the State that were not objected to were improper.

Defendant argues that this case is similar to several other cases where courts have found prosecutorial misconduct occurred when the prosecutor emotionally appealed to the jury by telling them to send a message to society about the general problem of child sexual abuse. *See State v. Powell*, 62 Wn. App. 914, 816 P.2d 86 (1991), *review denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992); *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 863 P.2d 85 (1993), *review denied*, 124 Wn.2d 1018 (1994); *State v. Bautista-Caldera*, 56 Wn. App. 186, 783 P.2d 116 (1989), *review denied*, 114 Wn.2d 1011 (1990).

Specifically, defendant argues that this case is similar to *Powell* where the court found the prosecutor committed misconduct in her closing argument by effectively telling the jury that "a not guilty verdict would send a message that children who reported sexual abuse would not be believed, thereby 'declaring open season on children.' " *Powell*, 62 Wn. App. at 918. In that case, the prosecutor stated:

But, ladies and gentlemen, what happens when we refuse to believe the children when we tell them, yes, if something happens you're supposed to tell? And then when they do, in fact, tell something has happened to them, what do we do? We don't believe them. We refuse to believe them. What does that tell the kids? What does that tell the children? It tells them it's fine. Yeah. You can go ahead and tell, but don't expect us to do anything because if it's an adult, we're sure as heck going to believe the adult more than we believe the child. I mean, we know adults don't lie; but, yeah, we know kids lie in things of that sort. Is that what we're going to be telling these kids here? Isn't that what we're telling

them with regard to this? Are we opening -- or having --
declaring open season on children to say: Hey, it's all right.
You can go ahead and touch kids and everything because--

Powell, 62 Wn. App. at 918, n.4. In *Powell*, and many of the other cases where the court has found errors, the prosecutor is asking the jury to act and do something to correct a generalized societal problem by rendering their verdict. They are effectively telling the jury not to convict defendant based on the evidence, but to convict him to send a message to society or out of an emotional appeal.

In contrast, the prosecutor in the present case never tells the jury to send a message to society or asks that they render a guilty verdict out of the need to comment on something. The prosecutor consistently reiterates that the jury's role is to follow the court's instructions on the law and base their decision on the evidence that has been presented as it applies to that law. The comments defendant argues are improper are further explanations to the jury of the type of evidence that is before them and what the law says about that evidence. They were also specifically in response to defense counsel's attack on J.T.'s credibility and arguments about the lack of direct evidence the State presented in its case. None of the prosecutor's comments in the present case ever ask the jury to decide their verdict on emotional grounds or to send a message to society as has routinely previously been held improper.

b. Even if the Court were to Find Such Comments were Improper, Defendant Fails to Show that there is a Substantial Likelihood that the Misconduct Affected the Jury's Verdict.

Even if the court were to find that such comments were improper, they were not so prejudicial as to constitute reversal in the present case. If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d. at 718-19. If the defendant does not object to the alleged misconduct at trial, the issue is deemed waived unless the misconduct was "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 270, 149 P.3d 646 (2006)(citing *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 719). Under that standard, the defendant must show that (1) "no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury" and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)(quoting *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)).

In this case, defendant is unable to show that the prosecutor's improper comments were so prejudicial as to constitute reversal. While

defendant cites over 15 instances of what he now argues was prosecutorial misconduct in his brief, during the trial he failed to object to all but one of them. Failure to object or move for mistrial at the time of the argument “strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial.” *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P. 2d 610 (1990); *see also State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 679, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Such inaction suggests that at the time they were spoken not even defense counsel felt the comments were improper, let alone prejudicial to defendant.

Further, courts have routinely cautioned defendants that “[c]ounsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal.” *Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960). Had defense counsel truly felt that any of the prosecutor's other comments constituted misconduct, she would have objected to them as she did in rebuttal. None of those comments can be considered so flagrant and ill-intentioned and evincing an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been cured by an instruction thus necessitating reversal, especially when defense counsel did not see it necessary to object to them during the trial.

The only instance in which defendant did object to the prosecutor's comments occurred at the beginning of the prosecutor's rebuttal argument. 16 RP 16-17. In that instance, even if the court were to find the

prosecutor's comments were improper, defendant cannot show that there was a substantial likelihood it affected the jury's verdict. In cases where courts have found such misconduct requires reversal as no curative instruction could "unring the bell," the improper remarks by the prosecutor have overwhelmingly appealed to the passion and the prejudice of the jury so as to overshadow any consideration of the actual evidence in the case.

For example, in *State v. Belgrade*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 755 P.2d 174 (1988), the Washington Supreme Court reversed Belgrade's conviction after it found the prosecutor's inflammatory comments were a deliberate appeal to the jury's passion and prejudice, encouraging it to render a verdict based on the defendant's associations with "a deadly group of madmen" and "butchers" rather than on the evidence. Similarly, in *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2011), the Washington Supreme Court reversed Monday's conviction after finding the prosecutor committed egregious racial misconduct and resorted to racist arguments in order to achieve a conviction based on racial bias rather than on evidence in a fair and impartial trial.

In contrast, the prosecutor's comments in the present case were direct counterarguments to defense counsel's closing argument and were made in an attempt to explain to the jury how direct and circumstantial evidence applied to the State's case. The prosecutor's comments in no way attempted to overshadow a conviction based on the evidence in the case in favor of appealing to some underlying passion or prejudice of the jury as

in *Belgrade* and *Monday*. Rather, while it may have admittedly been worded better, the prosecutor was attempting to reiterate to the jury what the instructions tell them the law requires them to consider in evaluating the evidence. Such an argument does not rise to the level that there is a substantial likelihood the comments affected the jury's verdict.

Moreover, objecting to the improper conduct, but failing to request a curative instruction, does not warrant reversal if an instruction could have cured the prejudice. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)(citing *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007)). Again, defense counsel in the present case objected to the comments at the time they were made, but did not request a curative instruction. Even at the conclusion of the case, defense counsel again brought up her objection and declined to request a curative instruction a second time. Requesting a curative instruction reminding the jury that they are to consider only the evidence that has been presented and the law upon which they had been instructed would have negated any question about the jury considering improper extraneous arguments. Defendant is unable to show that the allegedly improper comments could not have been cured by a curative instruction from the court and thus, fails to show such prejudice necessary to constitute reversal.

c. The Prosecutor Did Not Commit Misconduct as she Did Not Comment on Defendant's Right to Confront his Witnesses.

Defendant also argues in his brief that several of the prosecutor's statements in closing argument were comments on the defendant's constitutional right to jury trial, confrontation and cross-examination. *See* Opening Brief of Appellant, at 30. Specifically, he argues that the prosecutor's discussion about J.T. having to testify in front of the jury and the defendant amounted to the prosecutor arguing that the jury should draw a negative inference from defendant's constitutional right to confrontation. *See* Opening Brief of Appellant, at 30-33. However, a review of the record shows that the prosecutor's statements were discussing J.T.'s credibility, and not intended to comment on the defendant's constitutional right to confrontation.

If alleged misconduct directly violates a constitutional right, courts review the error under the standard of constitutional harmless error. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The State bears the burden of showing a constitutional error was harmless. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996).

The State may not invite the jury to draw a negative inference from the defendant's exercise of his right to cross-examine witnesses. *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 811-812, 863 P.2d 85 (1993). However, both

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